
Investment Board

Date: Monday, 25th November, 2019
Time: 5.00 pm
Venue: Committee Room - Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, 

Essex CB11 4ER

Chairman: TBD 
Members: Councillors G Bagnall, C Criscione, P Fairhurst, N Hargreaves, 

A Khan, P Lavelle, G LeCount, J Lodge, R Pavitt, N Reeve, G Sell 
and J De Vries

AGENDA
PART 1

Open to Public and Press

1 Election of Chair

To elect a Chair.

2 Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest

To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 5 - 8

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting. 

4 Aspire (MRH) Ltd - Non-Executive Director advertisement and 
timetable

9 - 10

To consider the Aspire (MRH) Ltd Non-Executive Director 
advertisement and timetable. 

5 Investment Board - Independent Members advertisement and 
timetable

11 - 14

Public Document Pack



To consider the Investment Board Independent Members 
advertisement and timetable.

6 Confirmation of Interview Panel

To confirm the interview panel for the Investment Board posts. 

7 Commercial Strategy Update 15 - 26

To receive an update in the Commercial Strategy.

PART 2

Exclusion of Public and Press

8 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 27 - 30

To consider Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). 

9 Investment Opportunity 2 31 - 46

To consider an investment opportunity.



For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510369 or 510548 
Email: Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk

General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER

Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550

Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

mailto:Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
mailto:uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
http://www.uttlesford.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



INVESTMENT BOARD held at COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES, 
LONDON ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN, CB11 4ER, on WEDNESDAY, 23 
OCTOBER 2019 at 4.00 pm

Present: Councillors G Bagnall, N Hargreaves, A Khan, P Lavelle, 
G LeCount, J Lodge, R Pavitt, N Reeve, G Sell and J De Vries

Officers in 
attendance:

A Bochel (Democratic Services Officer), A Webb (Director - 
Finance and Corporate Services) and N Wittman (Assistant 
Director - ICT and Facilities)

Also 
present:

Councillors A Dean, A Gerard and B Light
D Brett

IB1  ELECTION OF A CHAIR 

AGREED to appoint Councillor Lodge as the Chair of the 
Investment Board for the meeting on 23 October 2019.

IB2  PUBLIC SPEAKING 

Daniel Brett spoke to the Investment Board. A summary of his statement is 
appended to these minutes.

In response to this statement, Councillor Lodge said there would be some 
escalation in rates, but it would not be by 100 points. Councils cannot borrow to 
invest in equities. The Investment Protocol included in the agenda pack was an 
exemplar document and was not the Council’s own strategy.

IB3  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Criscione.

IB4  ACTIONS FROM THE LAST MEETING 

Members noted the actions from the previous meeting. Some actions would be 
discussed later in the agenda.

IB5  TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Members discussed whether to include the terms of reference of the Investment 
Board in the Commercial Strategy. The terms of reference would need to be 
approved by Cabinet, as would any changes, while changes to the Commercial 
Strategy would need to be approved by Council. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Members noted it was important for the terms of reference to include the Board’s 
status, purpose and outcomes, and how governance would be implemented and 
monitored.

Councillor Dean said he was concerned that the terms of reference only required 
a quorum of 7 out of its twelve members. His preference would be for a quorum 
of 5 or 6 out of a board of 7 members.

Councillor Light said the Board was exclusively male and while she respected 
the talent on the Board, it would be positive for it to be more diverse.

IB6  PURBECK HOUSE 

The Director – Finance and Corporate Services said the purchase of Purbeck 
House was progressing. A company had been set up, a bank account was in the 
process of being set up, and lawyers were currently completing due diligence. 
Everything was on track to finish by early November. A decision needed to be 
made about whether the third executive director would be a councillor. 

In response to a Member question, the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services said the capacity of officers was a challenge and would need to be 
addressed by the Chief Executive at some point. 

In response to a Member question, the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services said the Council had a risk register and its companies had a separate 
risk register. The minutes of the Aspire Board were sent to Cabinet, but officers 
could look to expand the distribution list. 

IB7  IMPLICATIONS OF THE PWLB 1% RATE INCREASE 

The Director – Finance and Corporate Services summarised the effect of the 
decision by the PWLB to announce a 1% rise in the cost of new borrowing with 
immediate effect. Whilst the decision would have a material impact on the 
income from new investments, it actually opened up a new funding stream as 
since the announcement, the Council had been approached by a number of 
brokers offering to undercut PWLB rates by 20 to 40 basis points (0.2% - 0.4%) 
depending upon the term and risk. The Council had expressed interest with the 
brokers. 

In response to a Member question, the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services said when the Council took out a loan with Phoenix, the tenders were 
whittled down through interviews with the Executive Directors and the Portfolio 
Holder – Finance and Administration. 

In response to a Member question, the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services said the Board would be able to scrutinise the tender process to ensure 
they were content with the outcome before making recommendations to Cabinet.

Page 6



IB8  COMMERCIAL STRATEGY 

The Director – Finance and Corporate Services gave a summary of the report 
which brought forward possible revisions to the strategy. The purpose of the 
strategy was to identify a shortfall in the Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
find a way to deal with this shortfall. 

Members noted the importance of a strategy which could be easily 
communicated to and understood by the public.

Members discussed whether there would be a benefit to a Member holding a 
position as a director of the Aspire companies. 

AGREED to Officers being the Executive Directors of the wholly 
owned companies and for named Councillors to have nominated 
observer status at the board meetings of the Aspire companies.

Councillor Sell said the Board ought to consider the option of working with other 
councils on investments.

IB9  INVESTMENT PROTOCOL 

The Director – Finance and Corporate Services said the Investment Protocol that 
had been included in the agenda pack was an example protocol. He would need 
to do further work on this and bring it back to the next meeting. 

IB10  DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 

It was agreed to fix a time for the next meeting at a future date.

IB11  EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

RESOLVED to exclude the public and press for the following items 
on the grounds that they contained exempt information within the 
meaning of s.1 etc

IB12  INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITY 1 

The Director – Finance and Corporate Services gave a summary of the report. 
He said he would be in touch with the company by Friday 1 November with a 
proposal. The offer was currently off-book, so had not been offered to anyone 
else. 

In response to a Member question, the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services said the Council was being offered the opportunity because it would be 
a long term investor and add value to the business.

Page 7



The Committee noted the opportunity.

IB13  INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITY 2 

The Director – Finance and Corporate Services summarised the report. He said 
the opportunity was off-book.

In response to a Member question, the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services said the cost of due diligence on the opportunity would be roughly 
£10,000 - £15,000.

The Committee noted the opportunity.

The meeting ended at 6.00pm.

Page 8



Committee: Investment Board

Title: Aspire (MRH) Ltd – Non-Executive Director 
Advertisement and Timetable

Date:
25 November 2019

Report 
Author:

Nicola Wittman, Assistant Director responsible 
for Commercialisation
nwittman@uttlesford.gov.uk
01799 510413

Summary

1. This report sets out the advertisement and timetable for the recruitment of the 
Non-Executive Directors for Aspire (MRH) Ltd

Recommendations

2. Members approve the advertisement and timescales contained within it.

Financial Implications

3. The cost of the roles will be built into the 2020/21 budget and will be funded 
from the investment income.

Background Papers

4. The following papers were referred to by the author in the preparation of this 
report and are available for inspection from the author of the report.

None

Situation

5. Attached as Appendix One is the draft advertisement for the appointment of 
two Non-Executive Directors to Aspire (MRH) Ltd.

6. The approved advertisements will then be placed on the Council website and 
on the Non-Executive Directors website.

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

mailto:nwittman@uttlesford.gov.uk


Appendix One

Aspire (MRH) Ltd
Non-Executive Director x 2

Salary - £520.25 per annum to include 
expenses

Aspire (MRH) Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Uttlesford District Council.

It was established in November 2019 to acquire residential properties for rent, as a source of 

income to support the services provided by Uttlesford District Council to its residents.

The company is in the process of acquiring its first properties - 10 flats in Purbeck House, 

Cambridge. It is intended to purchase additional properties to build, over the next year, a 

property portfolio worth close to £10 million.

The Board of Aspire (MRH) Ltd consists of three executive directors who are all employees 

of Uttlesford District Council. The Council is seeking to recruit two Non-Executive Directors to 

sit on the Board to support and advise the three Directors. 

We are looking for people who will add to the strengths of the existing Directors and support 

the business as it grows in the most exciting period that the Council has seen in a 

generation.

Experience of the private housing sector is not a requirement but we would expect you to 

have a business background, probably at board level.

It is anticipated that the Board will meet four times a year; however there may also be the 

need for ad hoc meetings. All meetings will be held in Saffron Walden.

For an informal discussion please contact Adrian Webb, Director of Aspire (MRH) Ltd 
on 01799 510421. 

If you are interested in this post please telephone 01799 510409/424 for an application form. 

Completed application forms, with accompanying CV if relevant, should be returned to 

Human Resources or emailed to humanresources@uttlesford.gov.uk

Closing date for completed applications is midday on Monday 13 January 2020.

Interviews will be held on Tuesday 28 January 2020.

We positively welcome applicants from all sections of the community.

Page 10

mailto:humanresources@uttlesford.gov.uk


Committee: Investment Board

Title: Investment Board – Independent Members 
Advertisement and Timetable

Date:
25 November 2019

Report 
Author:

Nicola Wittman, Assistant Director responsible 
for Commercialisation
nwittman@uttlesford.gov.uk
01799 510413

Summary

1. This report sets out the advertisement and timetable for the recruitment of the 
Independent Members to the Investment Board

Recommendations

2. Members approve the advertisement and timescales contained within it.

Financial Implications

3. The cost of the roles will be built into the 2020/21 budget and will be funded 
from the investment income.

Background Papers

4. The following papers were referred to by the author in the preparation of this 
report and are available for inspection from the author of the report.

None

Situation

5. Attached as Appendix One is the draft advertisement for the appointment of 
two Independent Members to the Investment Board

6. The approved advertisements will then be placed on the Council website and 
on the Board Members website.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

mailto:nwittman@uttlesford.gov.uk


Appendix One

Uttlesford District Council Investment Board
Independent Member x 2

Salary - £520.25 per annum to include 
expenses

Uttlesford District Council is recruiting two Independent Members for its Investment Board to 

provide support and challenge as it develops its asset portfolio.

Central Government funding for local authorities has been reducing for many years. Councils 

such as Uttlesford are now in the position where they need to generate additional income 

from a variety of sources, including commercial property investment.

In 2017 the Council, through a wholly owned subsidiary, acquired a 50% share in 

Chesterford Research Park (CRP) in a joint venture partnership with Aviva Life and 

Pensions. This venture has proved extremely successful with a significant revenue receipt 

being received by the Council each year (approximately £1.7 million per annum after cost of 

borrowing).

In February 2019 the Council agreed, in principle, to an investment allocation of £20 million 

for further development at CRP and £80 million for investment elsewhere in the country. 

The Council has established an Investment Board to guide and steer it through its acquisition 

process and to monitor the performance of its commercial portfolio. The Board is made up of 

elected councillors. The income raised from existing and future investments will be used to 

fully support the services currently provided by the Council to its residents.

A second wholly owned company, Aspire (MRH) Limited, has been established to acquire 

properties for rent at market rent levels. This company is currently in the process of acquiring 

its first properties - 10 flats in Purbeck House, Cambridge. It is intended to purchase 

additional properties to build, over the next year, a market rent housing property portfolio 

worth close to £10 million.

The Council is currently evaluating several other commercial investment opportunities.

As Independent Members of the Investment Board we are looking for people who will add to 

the strengths of the existing Board members, and support and challenge the Council as it 

develops its asset portfolio. Experience of property investment is required, preferably as part 

of a business background, and probably at board level.

Page 12



It is anticipated that the Board will formally meet quarterly; however there may also be the 

need for ad hoc meetings as investment opportunities arise. All meetings will be held in 

Saffron Walden.

For an informal discussion please contact Adrian Webb, Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services on 01799 510421. 

If you are interested in this post please telephone 01799 510409/424 for an application form. 

Completed application forms, with accompanying CV if relevant, should be returned to 

Human Resources or emailed to humanresources@uttlesford.gov.uk

Closing date for completed applications is midday on Monday 13 January 2020.

Interviews will be held on Wednesday 29 January 2020.

We positively welcome applicants from all sections of the community.

Page 13

mailto:humanresources@uttlesford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Investment Board

Title: Commercial Strategy Update

Date:
25 November 2019

Report 
Author:

Adrian Webb, Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services
awebb@uttlesford.gov.uk
01799 510421

Summary

1. This report attaches the latest version of the Commercial Strategy for 
consideration by the Board

Recommendations

2. Members consider the revised document and suggest further amendments 
ahead of the Council meeting on the 16 December.

Financial Implications

3. None.

Background Papers

4. The following papers were referred to by the author in the preparation of this 
report and are available for inspection from the author of the report.

None

Situation

5. Attached as Appendix One is the latest version of the Commercial Strategy. 
The specific areas that have been updated are

a. Paragraphs 3 – 5, reflecting the purpose of the investments

b. Paragraphs 16 – 20, setting out the legal framework in which local 
authority investments are made

c. Paragraph 32, clarification that an investment risk register will be 
maintained and monitored by the Investment Board

d. Paragrraph 39(b) – reworded for clarity

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

mailto:awebb@uttlesford.gov.uk


Appendix One

Uttlesford District Council

Commercial Strategy 2019 to 2023

Prepared by: 
Asset Management
Uttlesford District Council 
November 2019

Page 16



CONTENTS

Page

Introduction 2

Purpose of the Investments 2

Current Portfolio 2

Loans to wholly owned subsidiaries

The future

3

3

Borrowing, the Prudential Code and Statutory 
Guidance on Local Government Investments

4

Key Performance Indicators 5

Investment Protocol

Security, Liquidity and Yield

5

5

Risks

Proportionality

Capacity, Skills and Culture

5

6

6

Joint Working 8

Page 17



Introduction

1. The Council recognises that as a consequence of reducing government 
funding there is an increased requirement to generate additional income to 
underpin the core services provided by the Council to its residents. Traditional 
ways of generating additional income such as through Council Tax and fees 
and charges will not be able to absorb the reduction in government funding.  
By way of illustration, a 1% rise in Council Tax is equivalent to about £55,000 
in additional income.

2. This document replaces the Commercial Strategy 2019 to 2023 as approved 
by Full Council on 8 October 2019.

Purpose of the Investments

3. To provide a long term income for the council to support the provision of 
Council services.   This income requirement has arisen as a result of 
reductions in the Council’s finance from central government.  Government also 
restricts the ability of councils to raise income from council tax increases.

4. The Council seeks to operate in the most cost effective ways and will look for 
improvements in its operations which will reduce costs or avoid increased 
costs. However the scale of reduction in external finance is such that other 
income sources must be found.  Reductions in council services are considered 
a last resort.

5. The income target for the Board will be guided by the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS). The MTFS forecasts the income and expenditure over a four 
year period and includes all known factors. It shows the predicted annual net 
surpluses or deficits.  The investment income is sought to cover the forecast 
significant deficits in each of the years of the MTFS, so as to ensure that 
existing services can continue to be provided.

Current Portfolio

6. In May 2017 the Council, through its wholly owned subsidiary Aspire (CRP) 
Ltd, acquired a 50% share in Chesterford Research Park and formed a joint 
venture with Aviva Investors. As part of the Cambridge Life Science cluster the 
Park is world renowned, having been in existence for 19 years, with available 
space to significantly increase the commercial floor space, plus expand the 
Park into other areas of research to diversify and reduce the risk. 

Page 18



7. The Council gave a loan to Aspire (CRP) Ltd for the purchase of 50% of 
Chesterford Research Park (£47.25m). The loan was funded by

a. Phoenix Life – borrowing of £37m for 40 years on a repayment basis @ 
2.86% fixed. The first £10m drawdown was 5 July 2017 with the 
remainder as follows

5 July 2020 - £12m
5 July 2021 - £15m

Whilst this loan is being drawn down the balance will be funded by a 
mix of local authority and internal borrowing – The amount of each 
varies during the year dependant on the level of UDC balances 
available. Average interest rate, interest only, is 0.7%

b. Use of reserves and balances (£10.25m) funds the balance.

8. For 2019/20 the income from Chesterford Research Park is expected to be 
£2,130,000 with the cost of borrowing being £400,000. There is also 
repayment of staff time. 

Loans to wholly owned subsidiaries

9. The Council recognises that, to further support the budget ongoing and to 
ensure the continued delivery of services at the level currently provided, 
further investment in the expansion of Chesterford Research Park will be 
necessary. The first set of additional loans relate to the refurbishment of the 
Newnham Building. To date, the following loans to Aspire (CRP) Ltd have 
been made

Date Amount Term Rate Basis
Annual 
Repayment Building Repaid

03/05/2017 £47,250,000 50 years 4% Interest Only £1,890,000.00

27/06/2017 £60,000 10 months 4% Interest and principal £61,827.95 

26/03/2018 £223,000 49 years 1 months 4% Interest only £8,920.00 Newnham

02/01/2019 £2,518,000 48 years 4 months 4% Interest only £100,720.00 Newnham

20/08/2019 £3,000,000 20 years 4.5% Interest and principal £230,630.00 Newnham

10. In addition there is approval for a further loan of £1.25m for the fit-out of the 
Newnham Building on an interest and principal basis over 20 years at an 
interest rate of 4.5%. This will be drawn down during the latter part of 2019/20 
as the Newnham Building refit progresses.

Page 19



The future

11.The Council is committed to investing in the Park. The Council is keen to see 
existing tenants expand and grow on the Park and for the Park to attract new 
tenants from a diverse range of research activities. The Park is within the 
district boundary and investing helps to sustain existing employment, introduce 
new employment opportunities and generate additional Business Rates. As 
part of the 2019/20 Investment Strategy, approved by Full Council in February 
2019, an in principle agreement to invest up to £20million at the Park over the 
next three years was approved.

12.Full Council in February 2019 also agreed an in principle sum of £80million for 
investments outside of CRP. This sum will, in the main, be invested out of area 
to offset risks of investing in a small geographical area. To minimise risk to the 
investment the Council will, in the main, concentrate on areas with above 
average;

• Population growth projections
• Employment growth projections
• Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth projections

13.The Investment Portfolio may include a mix of 

• Multi-let urban industrial
• Offices in dynamic cities 
• Single-let long lease
• Convenience retail
• Market rent housing

14.The portfolio will also have a mix of lease lengths again to provide a balance.

15.Evaluation of potential opportunities will be made using a RAG based 
approach on criteria agreed by the Investment Board.

Borrowing, the Prudential Code and Statutory Guidance on Local 
Government Investments

16.The Council can rely on a variety of statutory powers to borrow and invest. 
Where the primary purpose of borrowing and investment is to secure a 
financial return, the Council has powers under sections 1 and 12, Local 
Government Act 2003. Section 1 provides that:

A local authority may borrow money—

Page 20



(a) for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment, 
or

(b) for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial 
affairs.

Section 12 states: 

A local authority may invest—
(a) for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment, 

or
(b) for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial 

affairs.

17.Where the Council proposes to rely on the borrowing powers in Local 
Government Act 2003 section 15 of the Act makes it a requirement to “have 
regard – 

(a) to such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and
(b) to such other guidance as the Secretary of State may by 

regulations specify for the purposes of this provision.”

The current guidance to which the Council must have regard is:

• Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments 
(3rd Edition) issued by the Secretary of State; and

• The Prudential Code issued by CIPFA. 

18.The Statutory Guidance contains two paragraphs on what is termed 
“borrowing in advance of need. The guidance states:

46. Authorities must not borrow more than or in advance of their needs 
purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. 

47. Where a local authority chooses to disregard the Prudential Code and 
this Guidance and borrows or has borrowed purely to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed the Strategy should explain: 

• Why the local authority has decided not to have regard to 
this Guidance or to the Prudential Code in this instance; 
and 

Page 21



• The local authority’s policies in investing the money 
borrowed, including management of the risks, for 
example, of not achieving the desired profit or borrowing 
costs increasing. 

19.The Council will adopt a “case by case” approach in considering whether to 
depart from the Statutory Guidance and the Prudential Code where the 
primary purpose of borrowing is to “profit from the investment of the extra 
sums borrowed”. In reaching a decision, the Council will balance the need to 
generate additional income to underpin core services to Uttlesford residents 
against the risks involved in taking on the borrowing and against the risks 
involved in the investment to be funded by borrowing. It will ensure that 
investments funded by borrowing in these circumstances are proportionate to 
the need to make good shortfalls caused by the reduction in Government 
funding. Given the Council’s acute funding shortfall and the likely 
consequences for Uttlesford residents of not being able to maintain core 
services without additional funding, the Council is likely to depart from the 
Statutory Guidance and from the Prudential Code where sound investment 
opportunities are identified.  

20.The Council will set out for each investment the risks associated with the 
investment, be they specific or industry/sector. These will be monitored on a 
regular basis by the Investment Board, and where necessary 
recommendations will be made to the Cabinet. The Council maintains a 
Medium Term Financial Strategy Reserve which is retained for use in the 
event of a significant drop in revenue income from an investment.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

21.A suite of KPIs will be developed by the Investment Board for reporting by the 
Aspire companies on a quarterly basis. These KPIs will be used, as part of 
suite of information, to inform future investments and disposals and therefore 
the make-up of the portfolio

Investment Protocol

22.An Investment Protocol will be developed alongside this strategy which sets 
out the criteria in detail.

Security, Liquidity and Yield

23.As the Council only has a small amount of money of its own to invest, any 
further expansion of the commercial strategy will necessarily be funded from a 
mix of external borrowing, from financial institutions, Public Works Loan Board 

Page 22



(PWLB) and other local authorities. The Council will not invest in high yield, 
high risk opportunities. This will be reflected in yield expectations which are 
currently 3 – 7%. 

24. Investments at Chesterford Research Park will be made by way of loans to 
Aspire (CRP) Ltd the Council’s wholly owned subsidiary. All commercial 
investments outside of CRP will be undertaken by the Council. Property 
purchase for letting at market rents will be undertaken through a new wholly 
owned subsidiary company Aspire (UDC) Ltd. 

25.By investing mainly, but not exclusively, in areas of above average population 
growth, employment growth and GDP growth the risk to the Council 
investment will be reduced.

26.Financing of acquisitions will be decided on a case by case basis. In almost all 
cases a mix of repayment and interest only loans will be undertaken, with the 
split being agreed by Cabinet.

27.The option to liquidate funds is either by selling the investment (or part thereof) 
or by refinancing the debt.

Risks

28.Each investment must be considered independently and only those viewed as 
having a positive expected yield and an acceptable risk profile will be taken 
forward for consideration by the Council.

29.The Council takes advice from its professional advisers at all times. For 
example, with the purchase of the 50% share at Chesterford Research Park 
the Council engaged

• Arlingclose as its financial advisers who project managed the 
funding tender

• Cushman and Wakefield who undertook all of the purchase 
negotiations and due diligence

• Hogan Lovells for Legal due diligence

30.For Aspire (CRP) Ltd the Council has appointed two non-executive directors to 
serve on the Board and bring independent challenge and support. The new 
delivery company, Aspire (UDC) Ltd, will also have two non-executive 
directors on the Board.

31.The Aspire companies will use a range of specialists which will vary between 
investments. This will ensure the continued professionalism and sector 
knowledge.

Page 23



32.A risk register will be maintained for each investment and these will be 
monitored by the Investment Board on a regular basis.

Proportionality

33.The aim of the Commercial Strategy is to generate income to underpin the 
Council’s core budget, to invest in other income generating opportunities and 
also good causes for the district.

34.The Council’s main investment at Chesterford Research Park comprises 
eleven core buildings and circa twenty tenants. For the income to be below the 
interest repayment amount three of the five largest tenants would be required 
to default on their tenancy agreement at the same time. Even with this 
relatively low risk it is important to attract different types of research business 
to the Park.

Capacity, Skills and Culture

Investment Board (IB) 

35.The IB will operate in accordance with the Commercial Strategy which is 
adopted annually by Full Council. Cabinet will delegate to the Leader; Portfolio 
Holder for Finance and Budget and the S151 Officer (or Assistant Director of 
Resources for Aspire investments) to conclude investments where 
authorisation has been given by Full Council.

36.Constitution of the IB

a. The IB is a Working Group of Cabinet and membership will 
be determined by the Leader of the Council

b. In addition there will be two independent members to 
supplement the skills of the elected Members.

37.The investment decision making and monitoring process is as set out overleaf

Page 24



38.Democratic Process (blue line)

a. As part of the annual budget setting process, Cabinet develops the 
Commercial Strategy in consultation with the IB. Cabinet recommends 
to Council the adoption of the Commercial Strategy. 

b. Council adopts the Commercial Strategy.

c. The IB develops a protocol to implement the Commercial Strategy 
which will be approved by Cabinet.

d. The Cabinet will receive from the IB quarterly updates, including KPIs, 
on the performance of the portfolio.

e. For new investments, the IB reviews the business cases and if 
appropriate supports a recommendation to Cabinet for the acquisition. 

f. Cabinet reviews the investment and if satisfied recommends to Council 
that funding is made available. Given that the IB will be constituted by 
members with a knowledge of commercial investment, supplemented 
with external training as necessary, and supported by industry expert 
independent people, it is acknowledged that Cabinet will not, without 
good reason duly considered, reject opportunities presented by officers 
that are supported by the IB.

g. Ahead of the Council meeting, the IB Chairman, along with officers, 
undertakes an all-Member briefing session to set out the investment 
and the reasons for its recommendation.

39. Internal Process (red line)

(a) The IB provides the two Aspire companies with a Commercial 
Protocol and sets out in detail the type of new investments it is 
seeking. Aspire (CRP) Ltd looks after developments at Chesterford 

Page 25



Research Park, whilst Aspire (MRH) Ltd is responsible for 
residential housing to be let at market rents. The Council’s Asset 
Team will manage all other non-CRP commercial investments.

(b) Depending on the category of investment sought, Aspire (MRH) Ltd, 
Aspire (CRP) Ltd or the Asset Team, working with professional 
advisors, will identify investments which meet the protocol set out by 
the IB. They will prepare investment business cases for 
consideration by the IB.  The IB will review and consider the cases 
in detail and if suitable will make the recommendation to the Cabinet 
to proceed. Approval by the Boards the Aspire companies is also 
required prior to submission to the IB.

(c) The Aspire companies, along with the Asset Team, prepare the 
quarterly KPI and other information for submission to the IB.

40.New Investments (green line)

(a) At an Extraordinary Meeting of Council a decision is taken on 
whether or not to allocate the funding.

(b) If the investment is agreed, funding will be made available to the 
relevant Aspire company or to the Asset Team to enable the 
purchase to be made. 

(c) The Aspire companies report annually to the Cabinet as the 
shareholder board of the Council. 

41.Governance, Audit and Performance Committee (GAP) (black line)

(a) A report on annual performance of the Aspire companies is taken to 
the GAP Committee. A similar report will be presented by the Asset 
Team.

Joint Working

42.The Council recognises the benefits of working with other parties, be they local 
authorities or private sector.  Joint Working mitigates risk and has the potential 
to enable the Council to consider new commercialisation opportunities in 
markets that alone they would not be able to do so.

Page 26



Document is Restricted

Page 27

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 31

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Aspire (MRH) Ltd - Non-Executive Director advertisement and timetable
	5 Investment Board - Independent Members advertisement and timetable
	7 Commercial Strategy Update
	8 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
	9 Investment Opportunity 2

